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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND 

Greenbelt Division 

 

ROBERT J. ENGLAND, et al.,   ) 

       ) 

 Plaintiffs,     ) 

       ) 

 v.      ) Case No. 8:10-cv-01256-RWT 

       ) 

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL, INC., et al., ) 

       ) 

 Defendants.     )  

       ) 

 

 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 

 Plaintiffs Robert J. England, Dennis Walter Bond Sr., and Michael P. Steigman, 

individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, complain against Defendants Marriott 

International, Inc. (―Marriott‖) and the Marriott International, Inc. Stock and Cash Incentive Plan 

(the ―Marriott Plan‖) as follows: 

 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. In the 1960s, Marriott‘s corporate predecessors—first Hot Shoppes, Inc., later 

Marriott-Hot Shoppes, Inc., and eventually Marriott Corporation—implemented an employee 

benefits program designed to provide retirement income to certain employees through Deferred 

Stock Bonus Awards (―Retirement Awards‖). Retirement Awards were discretionary grants of 

company stock that vested pro-rata during the course of the recipients‘ employment until age 65, 

and were distributed in ten annual installments after recipients retired. Because the terms of these 

Retirement Awards tied vesting to the number of years until a recipient turned 65, they produced 

wildly disparate vesting schedules among recipients of different ages. For example, a 25-year old 
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recipient would vest in a Retirement Award over 40 years at a rate of 2.5% per year, while a 60-

year old recipient would vest over 5 years at a rate of 20% per year.  

2. In the early 1970s, Marriott Corporation expanded the Retirement Awards 

program to thousands of its employees under the auspices of the Marriott Corporation 1970 

Deferred Stock Incentive Plan (the ―1970 Plan‖). In 1974, Congress enacted the Employee 

Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), which required pension plans to adopt a 

vesting schedule that was at least as generous as one of the available statutory minimum vesting 

schedules. 29 U.S.C. § 1053(a)(2). After ERISA‘s January 1, 1976 effective date, the Retirement 

Awards program became an ERISA-governed ―pension plan‖ because it ―provide[d] retirement 

income to employees.‖ 29 U.S.C. § 1002(2)(A).  

3. Rather than adopt an ERISA-compliant vesting schedule, Marriott Corporation 

unilaterally decided that the Retirement Awards program was exempt from ERISA‘s vesting 

requirements because it was a so called ―top hat‖ plan—―a plan which is unfunded and is 

maintained by an employer primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for a 

select group of management or highly compensated employees.‖ 29 U.S.C. § 1051(2). From 

1976 until 1989, Marriott Corporation issued over twenty-five thousand Retirement Awards to 

over eight thousand of its employees. Every Retirement Award that Marriott Corporation issued 

contained the same non-uniform vesting schedule tied to the recipient‘s age, which in most cases 

resulted in a vesting schedule that was less generous than any of ERISA‘s minimum vesting 

schedules. 

4. As a result of numerous corporate transactions after 1989, Marriott agreed to 

assume responsibility for the vast majority of the Retirement Awards that Marriott Corporation 
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and its predecessors issued to their employees. Marriott currently administers the remnants of the 

Retirement Awards program under the auspices of the Marriott Plan.  

5. Plaintiffs have recently discovered facts demonstrating that the Retirement 

Awards program extended far beyond a ―select group of management or highly compensated 

employees.‖ As a consequence, the program never actually qualified for the top hat exemption 

from ERISA‘s vesting requirements. Plaintiffs bring this lawsuit on behalf of all Retirement 

Award recipients to force Marriott to retroactively reform the vesting terms of the Retirement 

Awards to comply with ERISA, and to collect the additional benefits recipients are entitled to 

ERISA-compliant vesting schedules.  

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this case under 29 U.S.C § 1132(e)(1) and 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 because the case arises under ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1101, et seq. This Court also 

has jurisdiction over this case under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) because there is minimal diversity of 

citizenship among the parties and the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of 

$5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Marriott because it maintains its 

corporate headquarters in Maryland and transacts substantial business within Maryland. Marriott 

also administers the Marriott Plan in Maryland. 

8. Venue in this District is proper under 29 U.S.C. 1132(e)(2) because Marriott 

administers the Marriott Plan in Maryland. 
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PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff Robert J. England is a natural person and is a citizen and resident of 

Utah.  

10. Plaintiff Dennis Walter Bond, Sr. is a natural person and is a citizen and resident 

of Louisiana. 

11. Plaintiff Michael P. Steigman is a natural person and is a citizen and resident of 

Nevada. 

12. Defendant Marriott is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business 

and corporate headquarters located at 10400 Fernwood Road, Bethesda, Maryland. 

13. Defendant the Marriott Plan is an ―employee pension benefit plan‖ or ―pension 

plan‖ as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 1002(2)(A) that is administered by Marriott at its corporate 

headquarters in Maryland. 

 

FACTS COMMON TO THE CLASS 

I. The 1963 Hot Shoppes Stock Bonus Plan (the “1963 Plan”). 

14. Hot Shoppes implemented the pilot Retirement Awards program in 1963 on a one 

year trial basis under the auspices of the 1963 Plan. The program was designed to reward 

managers at individual restaurant locations for meeting their profit goals. In order to be 

considered for a Retirement Award, restaurant managers had to be nominated by their 

Department Director. Hot Shoppes retained complete discretion over whether to actually issue a 

Retirement Award to a nominee. If it chose to issue a Retirement Award, the number of Hot 

Shoppes shares awarded was equal to 25% of the nominee‘s annual cash bonus.  

15. The terms of the 1963 Retirement Awards provided that the shares awarded 

would vest ―pro rata to age 65,‖ and that vested shares would be ―paid in 10 installments 
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commencing at age 65.‖ The 1963 Retirement Awards also provided that the shares awarded 

would participate until final payout in dividends and stock splits to prevent dilution from market 

transactions. Hot Shoppes issued less than 20 Retirement Awards under the 1963 Plan. 

 

II. The 1964 Hot Shoppes Deferred Stock Bonus Plan (the “1964 Plan”). 

16.    In 1964, Hot Shoppes rolled out the Retirement Awards program on a full scale 

under the auspices of the newly-adopted 1964 Plan. Under the 1964 Plan, Hot Shoppes made the 

Retirement Awards available to unit managers that met their profit goals and were nominated by 

their Department Director, and to executives who were nominated by their Vice President. Hot 

Shoppes once again retained full discretion over whether to actually issue a Retirement Award to 

a nominee. The number of Retirement Award shares issued to unit managers equaled 25% of 

their cash bonus, and those issued to executives equaled 33% of their cash bonus.  

17. The terms of the Retirement Awards provided that the awarded shares would vest 

―pro-rata to retirement at age 65,‖ though the shares could also fully vest upon company-

approved early retirement, disability, or death. The Retirement Awards again provided that the 

awarded shares would participate in dividends and stock splits, and that vested shares would be 

distributed in 10 annual installments following retirement. 

18. In 1965, Hot Shoppes changed its name to Marriott-Hot Shoppes and continued 

issuing Retirement Awards under the 1964 Plan. In 1968, Marriott-Hot Shoppes changed its 

name to Marriott Corporation and continued issuing Retirement Awards under the 1964 Plan. 

Between 1964 and 1970, Hot Shoppes, Marriott-Hot Shoppes, and Marriott Corporation issued 

roughly 650 Retirement Awards to roughly 250 unique employees under the 1964 Plan. 
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III. The 1970 Marriott Corporation Deferred Stock Incentive Plan (the “1970 Plan”). 

19. In 1970, Marriott Corporation adopted the 1970 Plan. All Retirement Award 

recipients who were participants in the 1964 Plan became participants in the 1970 Plan.  

20. Unlike the 1963 and 1964 Plans, the 1970 Plan did not limit eligibility for 

deferred stock awards to certain classes of employees. Instead, the 1970 Plan was designed to 

reward anyone who Marriott Corporation considered a ―key employee.‖ In practice, all salaried 

employees were eligible to participate in the 1970 Plan at Marriott Corporation‘s discretion. 

21. Two types of deferred stock awards were available under the 1970 Plan: 

Retirement Awards (which were called Deferred Stock Bonus Agreements), and Deferred Stock 

Compensation Agreements. 

22. Retirement Awards were issued at Marriott Corporation‘s discretion upon a 

supervisor‘s recommendation, and the value of the awarded shares was once again based on the 

amount of the recipient‘s cash bonus for the year.  

23. The Retirement Awards under the 1970 Plan had uniform, non-negotiable terms. 

The vesting terms provided that the awarded shares would vest pro-rata on an annual basis from 

the date of the award to age 65, though the shares could also fully vest upon company-approved 

early retirement, disability, or death. The distribution terms provided that vested shares would be 

distributed in 10 annual installments commencing one year after age 65. The anti-dilution terms 

provided that the awarded shares would be adjusted to prevent dilution arising from cash or stock 

dividends, splits, subdivisions, or reclassifications of Marriott Corporation stock. 

24. Unlike Retirement Awards, the second type of deferred stock awards available 

under the 1970 Plan—Deferred Stock Compensation Agreements—were individually negotiated 

between Marriott Corporation and the recipient. While the vesting terms of the Deferred Stock 
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Compensation Agreements varied award by award, vested shares were still distributed after the 

recipient turned 65. 

25. Between 1970 and 1976, Marriott Corporation issued several thousand Retirement 

Awards to employees with an extremely broad range of salaries and job titles. By contrast, 

Marriott Corporation issued less than 100 Deferred Stock Compensation Agreements to a select 

group of highly compensated executives. 

26. In 1974, Congress enacted ERISA and prescribed detailed substantive 

requirements for all employee benefit plans that ―provide[d] retirement income to employees.‖ 

29 U.S.C. § 1002(2)(A). One of those substantive requirements was that pension plans adopt 

vesting schedules on employer contributions that were at least as generous to employees as one 

of the ERISA minimum vesting schedules. 29 U.S.C. § 1053(a)(2). These minimum vesting 

requirements applied to the 1970 Plan because the Plan deferred distribution of the awarded 

shares until retirement age, and hence ―provide[d] retirement income to employees.‖ Congress 

gave plan sponsors over a year—until ERISA‘s January 1, 1976 effective date—to bring their 

pension plans into compliance with ERISA‘s minimum vesting requirements. 

27. Although the Retirement Awards program and the whole 1970 Plan fell squarely 

within ERISA‘s regulatory mandate, Marriott Corporation made no effort to bring the Plan into 

compliance with ERISA. Instead, Marriott Corporation chose to leave the 1970 Plan in its pre-

ERISA form. The vesting terms of many Retirement Awards issued after ERISA‘s effective date 

violated ERISA because they produced a vesting schedule that was less generous than any of 

ERISA‘s minimum vesting schedules. Further, Marriott Corporation did not reform the vesting 

terms of Retirement Awards that it issued before 1976 to recipients who remained employees of 

Marriott Corporation after ERISA‘s effective date. 
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28. Congress did provide certain plans with limited exemptions from ERISA‘s 

vesting requirements. One such species of plan was the top hat plan—―a plan which is unfunded 

and is maintained by an employer primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation 

for a select group of management or highly compensated employees.‖ 29 U.S.C. § 1051(2).  

―[I]n providing relief for ‗top-hat‘ plans from the broad remedial provisions of ERISA, Congress 

recognized that certain individuals, by virtue of their position or compensation level, have the 

ability to affect or substantially influence, through negotiation or otherwise, the design and 

operation of their deferred compensation plan, taking into consideration any risks attendant 

thereto, and, therefore, would not need the substantive rights and protections of Title I [of 

ERISA].‖ DOL Adv. Op. 90-14A (5/8/90). In other words, Congress exempted top hat plans 

from ERISA‘s minimum vesting requirements because it did not want to interfere with the ability 

of companies and executives to negotiate and structure tax-beneficial deferred compensation 

arrangements. 

29. Of the two types of deferred stock awards granted by the 1970 Plan after ERISA‘s 

effective date, one arguably qualified for the top hat exemption, while the other did not. 

Specifically, Deferred Stock Compensation Agreements probably qualified for the exemption 

because they were individually negotiated and limited to a select group of a few dozen highly 

compensated executives. Retirement Awards, by contrast, were uniform, non-negotiable, and 

issued to thousands of employees with an extremely broad range of job titles and salaries. 

30. Congress did not provide a mechanism for the Department of Labor (DOL) or any 

other regulatory agency to review or approve the top hat exemption for specific pension plans. 

Instead, plan sponsors were permitted to unilaterally exercise the exemption at their own risk, 

subject to future regulatory or private civil enforcement. All plan sponsors were required to do 
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was send a letter to the DOL informing it of the claimed exemption, the plan‘s name, and the 

number of participants in the plan. 29 CFR § 2520.104-23. Upon information and belief, Marriott 

Corporation never sent the DOL the required top hat letter for the 1970 Plan. 

31. ERISA did not exempt purported top hat plans from certain other requirements. 

Specifically, plans claiming the top hat exemption were still required to create an administrative 

claims and appeals procedure consistent with DOL regulations. Upon information and belief, 

Marriott Corporation never created an administrative claims and appeals procedure for the 1970 

Plan. 

32. After ERISA‘s effective date, neither the terms of the 1970 Plan nor the terms of 

Retirement Awards issued under the 1970 Plan made any mention of ERISA, or the status of the 

Retirement Awards program under ERISA. 

 

IV. The 1978 Marriott Corporation Deferred Stock Incentive Plan (the “1978 Plan”). 

33. In 1978, Marriott Corporation amended and restated its 1970 Plan as the 1978 

Plan. All Retirement Award recipients who were participants in the 1970 Plan became 

participants in the 1978 Plan. 

34. Like the 1970 Plan, the 1978 Plan did not limit eligibility for deferred stock 

awards to certain classes of employees. Instead, the 1978 Plan was designed to reward anyone 

who Marriott Corporation considered a ―key employee.‖ In practice, all salaried employees were 

eligible to participate in the 1978 Plan at Marriott Corporation‘s discretion. 

35. Three types of deferred stock awards were available under the 1978 Plan: 

Retirement Awards (which were a sub-species of Deferred Stock Bonus Awards), Pre-

Retirement Awards (also a sub-species of Deferred Stock Bonus Awards), and Deferred Stock 

Agreements. 
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36. Deferred Stock Bonus Awards were issued at Marriott Corporation‘s discretion 

upon a supervisor‘s recommendation, and the value of the awarded shares was once again based 

on the amount of the nominee‘s cash bonus for the year. Marriott Corporation gave nominees 

who it chose to reward the option to take their awarded shares in the form of Retirement Awards 

or Pre-Retirement Awards.  

37. The Retirement Awards issued under the 1978 Plan had uniform, non-negotiable 

terms. The vesting terms provided that the awarded shares would vest pro-rata on an annual basis 

from the date of the award to age 65, though the shares could also fully vest upon company-

approved early retirement, disability, or death. The distribution terms provided that vested shares 

would be distributed in 10 annual installments commencing one year after age 65. The anti-

dilution terms provided that the awarded shares would be adjusted to prevent dilution arising 

from stock dividends, splits, subdivisions, or reclassifications of Marriott Corporation stock.  

38. Between 1978 and 1989, Marriott Corporation issued tens of thousands of 

Retirement Awards to several thousand unique recipients—in some years approaching three 

thousand unique recipients. The recipients of Retirement Awards issued under the 1978 Plan had 

an extremely broad range of salaries and job titles. The Retirement Awards issued under the 

1978 Plan were subject to ERISA‘s vesting requirements because they provided retirement 

income to employees, and they did not qualify for any statutory exemptions. 

39. Nominees who Marriott Corporation chose to reward also had the option to take 

their awarded shares in the form of Pre-Retirement Awards. The shares awarded through Pre-

Retirement Awards did not vest, but were instead distributed in ten consecutive annual 

installments commencing one year after the award. Undistributed shares would be forfeited if the 

recipient left Marriott Corporation before the end of the ten-year period. 
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40. Upon information and belief, between 1978 and 1989, Marriott Corporation 

issued thousands of Pre-Retirement Awards to thousands of unique recipients. Pre-Retirement 

Awards were not subject to ERISA because they did not systematically defer payment to 

retirement age or beyond the period of covered employment, but were in fact distributed during 

the recipient‘s employment at Marriott Corporation. 

41. The third type of deferred stock awards available under the 1978 Plan—Deferred 

Stock Agreements—were individually negotiated between Marriott Corporation and the 

recipient. While the vesting terms of the Deferred Stock Agreements varied award by award, 

vested shares were still distributed after the recipient turned 65. 

42. Between 1978 and 1989, Marriott Corporation issued less than 100 Deferred 

Stock Agreements to a few dozen highly compensated executives. While Deferred Stock 

Agreements were subject to ERISA because they provided retirement income to employees, they 

were exempt from ERISA‘s vesting requirements under the top hat exemption because they were 

individually negotiated and limited to a select group of a few dozen highly compensated 

executives. 

43. Upon information and belief, throughout the existence of the 1978 Plan, Marriott 

Corporation never sent the DOL the required top hat letter to comply with ERISA‘s alternative 

reporting requirements for top hat plans. Further, Marriott Corporation never adopted an 

administrative claims and appeals procedure as ERISA required. 

44. Neither the terms of the 1978 Plan nor the terms of Retirement Awards issued 

under the 1978 Plan made any mention of ERISA, or the status of the Retirement Awards 

program under ERISA. 
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V. The 1991 Marriott Corporation Deferred Stock Incentive Plan (the “1991 Plan”). 

45. Through 1990, Marriott Corporation had issued over twenty-five thousand 

Retirement Awards to over eight thousand unique recipients with an extremely broad range of 

salaries and job titles. Apparently concerned with the Retirement Award program‘s lack of 

selectivity, in 1991 Marriott Corporation adopted the 1991 Plan and severely curtailed the range 

of employees that was eligible to receive Retirement Awards.  

46. Specifically, the 1991 Plan restricted eligibility for Retirement Awards to only 

those employees with a pay grade of 56 or above. This amendment reduced the number of 

Retirement Award recipients in any given year from several thousand, to less than one hundred. 

Only after the 1991 Plan was adopted did the Retirement Awards program become a select 

program restricted to highly compensated employees, and hence exempt from ERISA‘s vesting 

requirements. Through this lawsuit, Plaintiffs are not challenging the legality of any Retirement 

Awards issued under the 1991 Plan. 

47. All Retirement Award recipients who were participants in the 1978 Plan became 

participants in the 1991 Plan. While their Retirement Awards were still subject to ERISA‘s 

vesting requirements, Marriott Corporation did nothing to bring the Retirement Awards program 

into compliance with ERISA. 

 

VI. Marriott Corporation’s Reorganization and the Successors to the Retirement 

Awards Program. 

 

48. In October of 1993, Marriott Corporation underwent a corporate reorganization 

that resulted in the spin-off of one of its subsidiaries into a new company called Marriott 

International, Inc. (―Old Marriott‖). The parent company—formerly Marriott Corporation—was 
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renamed Host Marriott Corporation. Most of Marriott Corporation‘s employees transitioned to 

Old Marriott, while a much smaller number stayed with Host Marriott. 

49. Just before the 1993 spin-off, Retirement Award recipients who were to become 

employees of Host Marriott were given the option to convert their Marriott Corporation shares to 

Host Marriott shares exclusively, or to convert half of their shares to Host Marriott shares and 

half to Old Marriott shares. Similarly, Retirement Award recipients who were to become 

employees of Old Marriott (as well as those who had left Marriott Corporation before the spin-

off) were given the option to convert their Marriott Corporation shares to Old Marriott shares 

exclusively, or to convert half of their shares to Old Marriott shares and half to Host Marriott 

shares. If employees in this latter group did not make any election, all of their shares 

automatically converted to Old Marriott shares. 

50. As part of the 1993 reorganization, Old Marriott agreed to assume the obligations 

and liabilities for all Retirement Awards that were converted from Marriott Corporation shares to 

Old Marriott shares.  

51.  Immediately after the 1993 spin-off, Old Marriott established a new stock 

incentive plan. In addition to granting new benefits to current employees, the plan also 

administered the converted Retirement Awards as ―Conversion Awards.‖ According to the plan‘s 

terms, Old Marriott agreed to abide by the original terms of the Retirement Awards when 

administering and distributing benefits under the Conversion Awards.  

52. While Old Marriott administered the Conversion Awards, the Retirement Awards 

program continued to violate ERISA‘s vesting provisions and the company did nothing to bring 

the program into compliance. In addition, Old Marriott never adopted a written or formal claims 
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procedure for benefits due under Retirement Awards, or an appeals procedure for the denial of 

benefits due under Retirement Awards.   

53. In March of 1998, Old Marriott underwent another corporate reorganization that 

resulted in the spin-off of a new company, also named Marriott International, Inc. (―Marriott‖), 

the entity that is a Defendant in this lawsuit.  The parent company was renamed Sodexho 

Marriott Services, Inc.  

54. As part of the 1998 reorganization, all Retirement Awards that had been 

denominated in Old Marriott stock were converted to Marriott stock. Marriott agreed to assume 

the obligations and liabilities for all Retirement Awards converted to Marriott stock. 

Immediately after its spin-off, Marriott created a new stock incentive plan that administered the 

converted Retirement Awards as Conversion Awards. That plan eventually became the Marriott 

Plan that is the Defendant in this lawsuit.  Marriott and the Marriott Plan agreed to abide by the 

original terms of Retirement Awards when administering and distributing benefits under the 

Conversion Awards.  

55. While Marriott has administered the Retirement Awards program, the program 

has continued to violate ERISA‘s vesting provisions and the company has done anything to bring 

the program into compliance.  Before this lawsuit was first filed, Marriott never adopted a 

written or formal claims procedure for benefits due under Retirement Awards, or an appeals 

procedure for the denial of benefits due under Retirement Awards. 

56. During the time that Marriott Corporation, Old Marriott, and Marriott have 

administered the Retirement Awards program, a large number of Retirement Award recipients 

have collected the stock due to them by virtue of retiring, turning 65, becoming disabled, or 

dying. When calculating the number of vested shares due to these Retirement Award recipients, 
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all of these companies have used the disparate vesting provisions that appeared in the Retirement 

Awards. 

57. Contrary to the assumption made by Marriott Corporation and the successors to 

the Retirement Awards program, the program does not qualify for any statutory exemptions from 

ERISA‘s minimum vesting requirements. As a consequence, the disparate vesting schedules in 

the Retirement Awards are illegal under ERISA because they often result in vesting that is less 

generous than any of ERISA‘s minimum vesting schedules.  

58. As the successors to the Retirement Awards program, Marriott and the Marriott 

Plan must belatedly bring the Retirement Awards program into compliance with ERISA by 

retroactively reforming Retirement Awards to comply with ERISA‘s minimum vesting 

requirements. In addition, they must also distribute the additional shares that Retirement Award 

recipients who have already collected their benefits are entitled to under the new, ERISA-

compliant vesting schedules. 

 

FACTS OF THE NAMED PLAINTIFFS 

59. Dennis Walter Bond, Sr. was born on July 19, 1944. Bond was employed by 

Marriott Corporation from 1973 until 1991.  

60. Marriott Corporation issued Retirement Awards to Bond under the 1970 Plan in 

1976 and 1977. Marriott Corporation issued Retirement Awards to Bond under the 1978 Plan in 

1978, 1979, 1988, and 1989. 

61. The vesting terms of Bond‘s Retirement Awards produced vesting schedules that 

were less generous than any of the available ERISA minimum vesting schedules. When Bond 

left Marriott Corporation after 18 years of service, he was only partially vested in all of his 
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Retirement Awards. Under any ERISA-compliant vesting schedule, Bond should have been fully 

vested in all of his Retirement Awards. 

62. Bond did not make an election around the time of the 1993 reorganization, so all 

of his Retirement Awards were converted to Old Marriott shares, and eventually Marriott shares, 

by default.  

63. Marriott distributed the shares it owed Bond under his Retirement Awards in 

2006. In calculating the number of shares due to Bond, Marriott used the vesting schedules in his 

Retirement Awards rather than an ERISA-compliant vesting schedule.  

64. Michael P. Steigman was born on March 12, 1945. Steigman was employed by 

Marriott Corporation from 1973 to 1991. Marriott Corporation issued Retirement Awards to 

Steigman under the 1970 Plan in 1974 and 1975. Those Retirement Awards became subject to 

ERISA‘s vesting requirements on January 1, 1976 because Steigman was still an employee of 

Marriott Corporation on that date. 

65. The vesting terms of Steigman‘s Retirement Awards produced vesting schedules 

that were less generous than any of the available ERISA minimum vesting schedules. When 

Steigman left Marriott Corporation after 17 years of service, he was only partially vested in both 

of his Retirement Awards. Under any ERISA-compliant vesting schedule, Steigman should have 

been fully vested in both of his Retirement Awards. 

66. Steigman did not make an election around the time of the 1993 reorganization, so 

all of his Retirement Awards were converted to Old Marriott shares, and eventually Marriott 

shares, by default. 

67. Steigman turned 65 on March 12, 2011. Marriott has not paid Steigman the shares 

he is entitled to under an ERISA-compliant vesting schedule for his two Retirement Awards. 
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68. Robert J. England was born on March 30, 1941. England was employed by 

Marriott-Hot Shoppes and then Marriott Corporation from at least 1966 to January 9, 1970. 

69. Marriott-Hot Shoppes issued England Retirement Awards under the 1964 Plan in 

1966, 1967, and 1968. Through the Retirement Awards issued to Mr. England, Marriott-Hot 

Shoppes and Marriott Corporation did not reserve for themselves or for a plan administrator any 

discretion to interpret the terms of the Retirement Awards. 

70. England turned 65 years old on March 30, 2006, and shortly thereafter made an 

informal inquiry into the deferred stock due to him under his Retirement Awards. 

71. On July 12, 2006, Marriott responded to Mr. England‘s inquiry by letter.  That 

letter was from Tracy Vance, Manager of Stock Plan Operations, and was printed on Marriott 

International, Inc. Corporate Headquarters letterhead. 

72. In that letter, Marriott conceded that some shares of stock associated with the 

Retirement Awards had vested prior to England‘s separation from Marriott Corporation in 1970, 

but refused to issue him any stock on the basis of a purported ―plan practice‖ in 1970 of 

distributing accounts valued under $3,500 at the time of separation of employment. In fact, 

England had received no distribution in 1970, and the cited plan practice did not come into effect 

until some two decades after England left Marriott Corporation. 

73.   England‘s attorney subsequently responded to Marriott‘s letter by making a 

formal demand for the stock due to England under his Retirement Awards.  England‘s attorney 

addressed the letter to Tracy Vance, Manager, Stock Plan Operations, Marriott International, Inc.  

74. In its response to that letter, Marriott acknowledged that England had never been 

paid what he was owed under his Retirement Awards, and made an offer to England in the form 

Case 8:10-cv-01256-RWT   Document 69   Filed 10/17/11   Page 17 of 26



18 

 

of Marriott stock in order to satisfy the obligation that it owed him under his Retirement Awards 

in exchange for a signed release of all claims against Marriott and all of its predecessors. 

75.   Specifically, Marriott offered England a number of adjusted vested shares based 

on its calculation that 3.41 shares had vested to England‘s benefit before his departure from 

Marriott Corporation.  This calculation was based on Marriott‘s interpretation that the vesting 

provision in England‘s Retirement Awards called for annual vesting.  That interpretation directly 

contradicts the plain language of England‘s Retirement Awards which provide: ―While you are 

employed these shares will vest to your benefit pro-rata to retirement at age 65 or earlier with the 

consent of the Board of Directors.‖  Nothing in the Retirement Awards called for annual vesting, 

as Marriott claimed. 

76. England‘s counsel informed Marriott that its offer to England was inadequate and 

substantially understated what he was owed under the Retirement Awards, in part because ―pro-

rata‖ did not mean annual vesting. 

77. On October 6, 2008, Marriott replied to England‘s vesting interpretation through a 

letter from its Vice President and Senior Counsel Gordon Klepper.  In that letter, Marriott 

informed Mr. England, for the first time, that ―[Marriott‘s] stock award administrator has always 

maintained sole authority to interpret the terms of the stock awards, and the administrator has 

consistently applied annual vesting for all Deferred Stock Bonus awardees.‖  Under the terms of 

England‘s Retirement Awards, no such authority or discretion was reserved. 

 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

78. Plaintiffs seek to certify this suit as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 

23(b)(1)(A), 23(b)(2) and/or 23(b)(3) on behalf of a class or subclasses consisting of all 

recipients of Retirement Awards who were employees of Marriott Corporation after ERISA‘s 
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January 1, 1976 effective date and who did not elect to take all of their Retirement Award shares 

in the form of Host Marriott stock around the time of the 1993 spin-off, or their beneficiaries. 

79. The size of the class is so numerous and geographically dispersed throughout the 

United States as to make joinder of all class members impracticable. The number of potential 

class members is in the thousands. 

80. There are questions of law and fact common to the class, including: 

a) Whether the Retirement Awards program is an employee pension benefit plan that 

is governed by the substantive provisions of ERISA; 

 

b) Whether the Retirement Awards program qualified for any exemptions from 

ERISA‘s minimum vesting requirements; 

 

c) Whether Defendants must retroactively reform the vesting terms of the 

Retirement Awards to comply with ERISA‘s minimum vesting requirements; 

 

d) Whether Retirement Award recipients whose distributions were calculated using a 

vesting schedule that did not comply with ERISA are entitled to additional 

benefits under an ERISA-compliant vesting schedule. 

 

81. The named Plaintiffs‘ claims are typical of the claims of class members because 

their claims arise from the same course of conduct by Marriott Corporation and the successors to 

the Retirement Awards program, and they assert the same legal theories on behalf of themselves 

and the class. 

82. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the class. Plaintiffs 

have no interests adverse to or in conflict with those of other class members. Plaintiffs have 

retained attorneys with extensive experience in complex class action litigation. 

83. Separate actions by members of the class would create a risk of inconsistent or 

varying adjudications that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for the Defendants, 

because Plaintiffs and class members are all participants in one or both pension plans that must 

treat them similarly. 
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84. Defendants and the predecessors to the Retirement Awards program have acted or 

have refused to act on grounds generally applicable to all members of the class, making 

appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief appropriate with respect to 

the class as a whole. 

85. Plaintiffs know of no difficulty that will be encountered in the management of this 

litigation that would preclude its maintenance as a class action. Questions of law or fact common 

to members of the class predominate over any questions affecting only individual members, and 

a class action is superior to any other available means to resolve the issues raised on behalf of the 

class. 

 

COUNT I 

Claim for Injunctive and Other Equitable Relief Under ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3) 

86. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 85. 

87. The vesting terms of the Retirement Awards issued to Plaintiffs and class 

members provide that awards of stock will vest pro-rata, on an annual basis, until the recipient 

turns 65.  These terms result in wildly varying vesting schedules for recipients of Retirement 

Awards based on their age at the time of the award.  The vesting terms of the Retirement Awards 

violate the minimum vesting requirements of 29 U.S.C. § 1053(a).  Plaintiffs and class members 

are entitled to enforce ERISA‘s minimum vesting requirements and to have the minimum vesting 

schedule of § 1053(a) replace the vesting terms of the Retirement Awards whenever application 

of the vesting terms of the Retirement Awards would result in a smaller amount of vested shares 

than is permitted by § 1053(a). 

88. The vesting terms of the Retirement Awards issued to Plaintiffs and class 

members count only years of service from the date of each specific award to determine vesting in 
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that particular award.  So with each additional Retirement Award granted to Plaintiffs and class 

members by Marriott‘s corporate predecessors, the vesting schedule for that award started from 

zero.  For example, a 45 year old employee who received a Retirement Award in 1975 and 

remained with the company would be 1/2 vested in his 1975 Award as of 1985.  If he also 

received a Retirement Award in 1984, however, he would only be vested in 1/11th of his 1984 

Award as of 1985.  This vesting scheme violates the minimum vesting requirements of 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1053(a).    Plaintiffs and class members are entitled to enforce ERISA‘s requirement that 

vesting should be calculated with reference to total years of service and consistent with ERISA‘s 

minimum vesting schedule, not with reference to years of service from the date of a given 

Retirement Award. 

89. The vesting terms of the Retirement Awards issued to Plaintiffs and class 

members count a year of service for purposes of vesting to be a full calendar year of 

employment, regardless of the number of hours worked.  These vesting terms violate ERISA‘s 

year of service requirements articulated in 29 U.S.C § 1053(b)(2), which count a year of service 

as 1,000 hours worked in any consecutive 12 month period.  Plaintiffs and class members are 

entitled to enforce ERISA‘s year of service definition and to have it replace the full calendar year 

requirement of the Retirement Awards. 

90. The vesting terms of the Retirement Awards issued to Plaintiffs and class 

members calculate total years of service for purposes of vesting using only years of service after 

the Award is granted, disregarding years worked before the grant of the Award.  ERISA, 29 

U.S.C. § 1053(b), requires that total years of service be calculated using all years worked since 

age 18, regardless of when the employee actually becomes a plan participant.  Plaintiffs and class 

members are entitled to enforce ERISA‘s total years of service calculation requirements by 
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having their benefits calculated using total years of service, not just years of service from the 

date of the Retirement Award. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask for judgment in their favor and in favor of the class against 

Defendants as follows: 

A) Certifying this action as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(A), 23(b)(2) 

and/or 23(b)(3), and appointing Plaintiffs as class representatives; 

 

B) Declaring that the Retirement Awards program is an employee pension benefit  

  plan that is governed by ERISA; 

 

C) Declaring that the vesting terms of the Retirement Awards violate 29 U.S.C. § 

1053, and that Retirement Award recipients are entitled to have their benefits 

calculated using vesting terms that comply with ERISA; 

 

D) Enjoining Defendants from administering Retirement Awards, calculating 

benefits due under Retirement Awards, and distributing benefits due under 

Retirement Awards in a manner that violates 29 U.S.C. § 1053; 

 

E) Ordering the reformation of the terms of the Retirement Awards and the plans  

  that granted the Retirement Awards so that they comply with 29 U.S.C. § 1053; 

 

F) Awarding Plaintiffs and the class attorneys fees pursuant to statute, the common 

fund or common benefit doctrine, and any other applicable legal doctrine; 

 

G) Awarding prejudgment interest, post-judgment interest, and costs of suit; and 

 

H) Granting any other relief the Court deems just and proper. 

 

 

COUNT II 

Claim for Declaratory Relief and Benefits Under ERISA, 29 U.S.C. § 1132(a)(1)(B) 

91. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference paragraphs 1 through 89. 

92. Defendants and their predecessors who administered the Retirement Awards have 

miscalculated and continue to miscalculate the benefits due to Retirement Award recipients by 

improperly calculating the number of vested shares that Retirement Award recipients are entitled 

to.  The improper calculation of the number of vested shares that Retirement Award recipients 
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are entitled to results from the violations of ERISA 29 U.S.C. § 1053 outlined in Count I.  Under 

29 U.S.C § 1132(a)(1)(B), those class members who have received benefits from Defendants or 

their predecessors based on the application of vesting terms that violate the ERISA are entitled to 

recover benefits due to them under ERISA-compliant vesting terms.  Those class members who 

have not yet received their distributions are entitled to a declaration that their future benefits 

should be calculated using ERISA-compliant vesting terms. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask for judgment in their favor and in favor of the class against 

Defendants as follows: 

A) Certifying this action as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(1)(A), 23(b)(2) 

and/or 23(b)(3), and appointing Plaintiffs as class representatives; 

 

B) Declaring that the Retirement Awards program is an employee pension benefit 

plan that is governed by ERISA; 

 

C) Ordering Defendants to recalculate the benefits owed to all Retirement Award  

  holders and recipients that have already received distributions by using the proper  

  ERISA-compliant vesting method, and to distribute to those Retirement Award  

  holders the additional benefits owed to them resulting from proper calculation of  

  their benefits; 

 

D) Awarding Plaintiffs and the class attorneys fees pursuant to statute, the common 

fund or common benefit doctrine, and any other applicable legal doctrine; 

 

E) Awarding prejudgment interest, post-judgment interest, and costs of suit; and 

 

F) Granting any other relief the Court deems just and proper. 

 

COUNT III 

Breach of Contract 

93. Plaintiff England asserts Count III for himself and on behalf of those Retirement 

Award recipients who separated from Hot Shoppes, Marriott-Hot Shoppes, or Marriott 
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Corporation before the effective date of ERISA, and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 85 by 

reference. 

94. The Retirement Awards issued to class members like England who left Marriott 

Corporation before ERISA‘s effective date constitute valid, enforceable contracts. 

95. Mr. England and class members like him performed their obligations under their 

respective contracts, and are entitled to enforce those contracts.  

96. Marriott assumed the obligations and liabilities under the pre-ERISA Retirement 

Awards, so England and class members like him are entitled to enforce their respective contracts 

against Marriott. 

97. For class members like England whose Retirement Awards provide for ―pro-rata‖ 

vesting without mention of annual vesting (those issued before 1971), Defendants interpret the 

vesting term ―pro-rata‖ to mean annual vesting when distributing benefits under the Retirement 

Awards.  The plain meaning of the term ―pro-rata‖ requires Defendants to calculate the number 

of vested shares that those class members are entitled to based on a daily, not an annual, vesting 

schedule.  England and class members like him are entitled to enforce their rights under the ―pro-

rata‖ language of their Retirement Awards.  Class members to whom Defendants have already 

distributed benefits in accordance with its interpretation of annual vesting are entitled to recover 

additional benefits due to them with the proper calculation of the number of vested shares using a 

daily vesting schedule, and class members who have not yet received distributions are entitled to 

a declaration that the Retirement Awards require Defendants to apply daily vesting when 

calculating their future distributions of benefits. 
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98. As a direct and proximate result of Marriott‘s and its predecessors‘ breaches of 

the terms of the Retirement Awards, England and class members like him have suffered damages 

in the form of unpaid shares of stock to which they are entitled. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask for judgment in their favor and in favor of the class against 

Marriott as follows: 

A) Certifying this action as a class action under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) and/or 

23(b)(3), and appointing England as a class representative; 

 

B) Awarding compensatory damages to class members in an amount to be proven at 

trial; 

 

C) Awarding Plaintiffs and the class attorneys fees pursuant to statute, the common 

fund or common benefit doctrine, and any other applicable legal doctrine; 

 

D) Awarding prejudgment interest, post-judgment interest, and costs of suit; and 

 

E) Granting any other relief the Court deems just and proper. 
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Dated: October 17, 2011   Respectfully submitted, 

 

      _________/s/_______________________ 

      William H. Bode 

      Mark Leventhal 

      Andre M. Gregorian 

      Bode & Grenier, LLP 

      1150 Connecticut Avenue, NW 

      Ninth Floor 

      Washington, D.C. 20036 

      (202) 828-4100 

 

      Steven A. Katz 

      George A. Zelcs 

      Michael E. Klenov 

      Korein Tillery LLC 

      505 North 7
th

 Street – Suite 3600 

      Saint Louis, Missouri   63101 

      Phone:  314.241.4844 

      Fax:  314.241.3525 

 

Timothy F. Maloney (Bar No. 03381) 

 Joseph, Greenwald & Laake, PA 

 6404 Ivy Lane, Suite 400 

 Greenbelt, MD 20770 

 (301) 220-2200 

 

 

      Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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